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Background
• 1990 – Congress passes the Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA)
• Medical examinations and medical inquiries
of employees are generally prohibited

• Voluntary employee health programs
• Safe harbor permits employers to implement
benefit plans that are based on underwriting
risks.
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ADA Employee Health Programs
42 U.S.C. § 12112(d)(4)(B)

• “A covered entity may conduct voluntary
medical examinations, including
voluntary medical histories, which are
part of an employee health program
available to employees at that work site.”
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ADA’s “Safe Harbor”
42 U.S.C.A. § 12201(c)(2)

• “[The ADA] shall not be construed to prohibit
or restrict . . . a person or organization
covered by this chapter from establishing,
sponsoring, observing or administering the
terms of a bona fide benefit plan that are
based on underwriting risks, classifying risks,
or administering such risks that are based on
or not inconsistent with State law[.]”
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EEOC & Wellness Plans
July 2000

• “[A] wellness program is ‘voluntary’” – and
therefore lawful – “as long as an employer
neither requires participation nor penalizes
employees who do not participate.”
• The EEOC did not explain what it means by
the terms “requires” and “penalizes.”
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HIPAA Regulations
2006

• Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act (HIPAA)
• U.S. Departments of Labor, Health and
Human Services, and the Treasury enacted
HIPAA regulations about wellness plans that
authorized employers to reward employees
who participate in such plans with financial
inducements of up to twenty percent of the
cost of health insurance coverage.
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EEOC & HIPAA Standard
January 2009

• January 6, 2009, the EEOC announced that it
agreed with the HIPAA twenty percent
standard.
• “Borrowing from the HIPAA rule is appropriate
because the ADA lacks specific standards on
financial inducements, and because it will help
increase consistency in the implementation of
wellness programs.”
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EEOC Rescinds Standard
March 2009

• On March 6, 2009, the EEOC rescinded its
endorsement of the HIPAA standards.
• The EEOC said that it was “continuing to
examine what level, if any, of financial
inducement to participate in a wellness
program would be permissible under the
ADA.”
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Patient Protection And
Affordable Care Act
2010

• Congress passed the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act (ACA).
• The ACA authorizes a financial reward for employee
participation in wellness programs if the reward does
not “exceed 30 percent of the cost of the coverage.”
• The ACA also authorized the Secretaries of Labor,
Health and Human Services, and the Treasury to
“increase” lawful financial rewards for participation “up
to 50 percent of the cost of coverage.”
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Seff v. Broward County,
691 F.3d 1221 (11th Cir. 2012)

• The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit determined
that a wellness plan that imposed a penalty for nonparticipation
complied with the ADA.
• “Coventry Healthcare sponsored the employee wellness program
as part of the contract to provide Broward with a group health
plan, the program was only available to group plan enrollees, and
Broward presented the program as part of its group plan in at
least two employee handouts. In light of these facts, the district
court did not err in finding as a matter of law that the employee
wellness program was a ‘term’ of Broward's group health
insurance plan, such that the employee wellness program fell
within the ADA's safe harbor provision.”
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EEOC Hearing
May 8, 2013

• Former EEOC Vice Chair Leslie Silverman warned
that if the Commission fails to act or if it “adopts a
position that is at odds with the rest of the
Administration, the EEOC’s credibility may suffer and
its relevance in this important national debate may
indeed be lost.”
• Commissioner Victoria Lipnic complained that the
Obama EEOC “has not adopted and articulated a
position on these matters, leading to confusion,
uncertainty, and, I am certain, frustration.”
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ACA Regulations
June 3, 2013

• The Secretaries of Labor, Health and Human
Services, and the Treasury issued regulations that
permit employers to “reward” employees who
participate in wellness plans by offering financial
inducements of up to
• 30 percent of the cost of health coverage; and
• 50 percent for “programs designed to prevent or
reduce tobacco use.”
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EEOC ADA Litigation Challenges to WPs
 EEOC v. Flambeau (W.D. Wis. Aug. 2014) challenge to WP with biometric
screening and HRA
• Participants get about 75% of health plan costs paid
• Non WP participants health coverage cancelled and could only continue via taking
COBRA coverage and paying 100%

 EEOC v. Orion Energy Sys. (E.D. Wis. Aug. 2014) challenge to WP with blood work
and HRA – Orion paid 100% health costs for participants
• Non WP participants had to pay 100% and $50 monthly penalty
• EEOC also alleges employee terminated after refusing to do tests

 EEOC v Honeywell (D. Minn. Oct. 29, 2014) biometric testing in WP meeting ACA
requirements
• Consequences to non participants
o Employee - $500 surcharge paid in monthly increments, $1,000 tobacco surcharge for employee
and $1,000 for employee’s spouse if refused test and non receipt of HSA contribution from
$250-$1,500
© 2014 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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EEOC ADA Litigation Challenges to WPs (cont’d)
EEOC v. Honeywell cont’d

EEOC sought Temporary Restraining Order which Court denied
EEOC also alleged GINA violated because of incentive for spouse’s medical
history disclosure
• But how is an employee’s spouse genetically related to the employee?

EEOC previously said WP cannot require participation or penalize non
participants but had not said whether or when financial inducement in a WP
would render program “involuntary”
• EEOC sued in Honeywell even when WP complied with ACA regulations under
§2705(j) of Public Health Service Act
• EEOC’s Honeywell papers seemed very concerned about “penalties” even when
reward or penalty is of equal dollar amount

EEOC could administratively pursue this case
© 2014 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Summary of EEOC Proposed Rule
Designed to Promote Health

 Amendments to Regulations Under the Americans With Disabilities Act
 Wellness programs, including any disability-related inquiries and medical
examinations that are part of such programs, must be reasonably designed
to promote health or prevent disease.
 Must not be:
• overly burdensome,
• a subterfuge for violating employment discrimination laws, or
• highly suspect in the method chosen to promote health or prevent disease.
Examples: collection of medical information without feedback; overly burdensome
amount of time to participate; unreasonably intrusive procedures; and significant
costs.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Summary of EEOC Proposed Rule
Limit on Incentives

 Total Incentive Limits
• Participatory
o 30% of the total cost of employee-only coverage.
• Health-Contingent
o (including tobacco cessation programs)
o 30% of the total cost of employee-only coverage.

 Incentives may be in the form of a reward or penalty.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Summary of EEOC Proposed Rule
Voluntary: Prohibited Actions

Voluntary means an employer does not:

 Require employees to participate.
 Deny coverage under any of its group health plans or particular benefits
packages within a group health plan for non-participation or limit the extent
of such coverage.
 Take any adverse employment action or retaliate against, interfere with,
coerce, intimidate, or threaten employees for non participation.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Summary of EEOC Proposed Rule
Voluntary: Notice Requirements

To ensure voluntary participation, an employer must provide a notice that
clearly explains:

 What medical information will be obtained.
 Who will receive the medical information.

 How the medical information will be used.
 The restrictions on its disclosure.
 The methods the covered entity will employ to prevent improper disclosure
of the medical information.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Summary of EEOC Proposed Rule
Confidential Medical Information

 Disclosure of medical information from wellness programs to employers:
• aggregate form - not reasonably likely to disclose the identity of specific
individuals;
• except as needed to administer the health plan.

 Compliance with the HIPAA Privacy Rule likely satisfies this requirement.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Summary of EEOC Proposed Rule
Reasonable Accommodations

 Must provide reasonable accommodations that enable employees with
disabilities to participate fully and earn any reward or avoid any penalty
offered.
 Example: Alternative to requirement to meet a fitness standard, such as BMI
or cholesterol must be waived for someone whose disability would not
permit this or would make it inadvisable

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Summary of EEOC Proposed Rule
Reasonable Accommodations

 General ADA Title I reasonable accommodation requirements still apply.
 Example: An employer would, absent undue hardship and upon request,
have to provide written materials that are part of a wellness program in
an alternate format, such as in large print or on computer disk, for an
employee with a vision impairment.
• Also, e.g., the site for any biometric testing involved must be accessible to
individuals with mobility impairments.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Summary of EEOC Proposed Rule
GINA

 The proposed rule does not address the extent to which Title II of the
Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (“GINA”) affects an
employer’s ability to condition incentives on a family member’s participation
in a wellness program.
 EEOC says this issue will be addressed in future EEOC rulemaking.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Summary of EEOC Proposed Rule
Seff v. Broward County

 EEOC proposed rule, footnote 24 (and as EEOC argued in Honeywell case)
takes position that ADA’s bona fide benefit plan safe harbor provision is
inapplicable, contrary to the 11th Circuit U.S. Court of Appeals in Seff v.
Broward County, that voluntariness is not an issue when wellness program
incentives are part of a health insurance plan because they are then within
the bona fide benefit plan safe harbor.
 The EEOC posits that such an interpretation would render the “voluntary”
exception superfluous.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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EEOC Rule Inconsistencies with ACA
Incentives: Limits

ACA

 Participatory wellness program incentives are unlimited.
 Health-contingent wellness programs incentives related to tobacco cessation
are up to 50%.
ADA/EEOC

 Participatory wellness program incentives limited to 30%.
 Ignores additional 20% incentive for tobacco cessation under healthcontingent wellness programs.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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EEOC Rule Inconsistencies with ACA
Incentives: Determining Total Cost

ACA

 Total reward for wellness programs based upon “the total cost of coverage
under the plan.”
ADA

 Total reward for wellness programs based upon “the total cost of employeeonly coverage under the plan.”
• This is a major issue.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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EEOC Rule Inconsistencies with ACA
Reasonable Accommodations

 HIPAA/ACA Reasonable Alternatives
• Health-Contingent Only
o Activity-Only: Reasonable alternative standard (or waiver of applicable
standard) for obtaining reward, due to medical condition.
o Outcome-Based: Reasonable alternative standard (or waiver) if initial standard
is not met due to a measurement, test, or screening.
• Likely fulfills employer’s ADA reasonable accommodations obligation for healthcontingent wellness programs.

 ADA Reasonable Accommodations
• Participatory and Health Contingent.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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EEOC Request for Comments
The Voluntary Requirement

Must employers that offer incentives to encourage employees to disclose
medical information also offer similar incentives to persons who choose not
to disclose such information, but who instead provide medical professional
certification stating:

 employee is under the care of a physician and

 any medical risks identified by that physician are under active treatment.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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EEOC Request for Comments
The Voluntary Requirement

Whether incentives that render the cost of health insurance unaffordable to
employees is deemed coercive and “involuntary” when connected to required
disability-related inquires and medical exams, where unaffordable is based on
the premium assistance provisions in the ACA, i.e., the portion an employee
must pay for employee-only coverage exceeds a specified percent of household
income (9.56% in 2015).

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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EEOC Request for Comments
Notice Requirements

Should the proposed notice include a requirement that employees
participating in wellness programs provide prior, written, and knowing
confirmation that their participation is voluntary?

 If so, what should be the form of authorization?
 Should principles of informed consent be used?
 What are costs of developing and maintaining the forms?
 Could existing forms provide adequate protections, e.g., HIPAA forms
employers already use in connection with wellness programs, or forms
employers use to comply with Title II of GINA.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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EEOC Request for Comments
Notice Requirements

 Should the proposed notice requirement apply only to
• more than de minimis rewards or penalties to employees who participate (or
decline to participate) where wellness programs ask disability-related inquiries or
have medical examinations?

 If so, how should the Commission define “de minimis”?

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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EEOC Request for Comments
Designed to Promote Health

 Which best practices ensure that wellness programs are:
• designed to promote health
• do not operate to shift costs to employees with health impairments or stigmatized
conditions?

 Is the EEOC now taking over HHS’s role?

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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EEOC Request for Comments
Limited Incentives on Non-GHP Programs

 Whether employers offer (or are likely to offer in the future) wellness
programs outside of a group health plan or group health insurance coverage
that:
• use incentives to promote participation in such programs or
• to encourage employees to achieve certain health outcomes and

• the extent to which the ADA regulations should limit incentives provided in such
programs.

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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EEOC Request for Comments
Tobacco Cessation Limits

What is the impact of the proposed rule’s 30% limit on incentives on tobacco
cessation programs where employees are asked to respond to disability-related
inquiries or undergo medical examinations?

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Genetic Information
Nondiscrimination Act
(GINA)

• Prohibits discrimination against employees or
applicants because of genetic information.
• Prohibits acquisition of genetic information with narrow
exceptions
• Genetic information includes information about an
individual's genetic tests and the genetic tests of an
individual's family members, as well as information
about any disease, disorder or condition of an
individual's family members (i.e. an individual's family
medical history).
39

EEOC’s GINA Regulations
29 C.F.R. § 1635

• “The general prohibition against requesting, requiring,
or purchasing genetic information does not apply . . .
[w]here a covered entity offers health or genetic
services, including such services offered as part of a
voluntary wellness program.”
• Employee must provide “prior knowing, voluntary, and
written authorization, which may include authorization
in electronic format”
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EEOC’s GINA Regulations
29 C.F.R. § 1635

• Individually identifiable genetic information may be
“provided only to the individual (or family member if
the family member is receiving genetic services) and
the licensed health care professionals or board
certified genetic counselors involved in providing such
services”
• Individually identifiable genetic information may not be
“accessible to managers, supervisors, or others who
make employment decisions, or to anyone else in the
workplace”
41

EEOC’s GINA Regulations
29 C.F.R. § 1635

• Any individually identifiable genetic information may be “only
available for purposes of such services” and may not be
“disclosed to the [employer] except in aggregate terms that do
not disclose the identity of specific individuals”
• An employer “will not violate the requirement that it receive
information only in aggregate terms if it receives information that,
for reasons outside the control of the provider or the [employer]
(such as the small number of participants), makes the genetic
information of a particular individual readily identifiable with no
effort on the covered entity's part).”
42

GINA & Financial Inducements
29 C.F.R. § 1635.8
• An employer “may not offer a financial inducement for
individuals to provide genetic information, but may
offer financial inducements for completion of health
risk assessments that include questions about family
medical history or other genetic information, provided
the [employer] makes clear, in language reasonably
likely to be understood by those completing the health
risk assessment, that the inducement will be made
available whether or not the participant answers
questions regarding genetic information.”
43

GINA & Financial Inducements
29 C.F.R. § 1635.8

• An employer “offers $150 to employees who complete a health
risk assessment with 100 questions, the last 20 of them
concerning family medical history and other genetic information.
The instructions for completing the health risk assessment make
clear that the inducement will be provided to all employees who
respond to the first 80 questions, whether or not the remaining 20
questions concerning family medical history and other genetic
information are answered.”
• This health risk assessment does not violate GINA.
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GINA & Financial Inducements
29 C.F.R. § 1635.8
• An employer “may offer financial inducements to encourage
individuals who have voluntarily provided genetic information
(e.g., family medical history) that indicates that they are at
increased risk of acquiring a health condition in the future to
participate in disease management programs or other programs
that promote healthy lifestyles, and/or to meet particular health
goals as part of a health or genetic service.”
• “[T]hese programs must also be offered to individuals with current
health conditions and/or to individuals whose lifestyle choices put
them at increased risk of developing a condition.”
45

GINA & Financial Inducements
29 C.F.R. § 1635.8
• “Employees who voluntarily disclose a family medical
history of diabetes, heart disease, or high blood
pressure on a health risk assessment” and
“employees who have a current diagnosis of one or
more of these conditions are offered $150 to
participate in a wellness program designed to
encourage weight loss and a healthy lifestyle.”
• This does not violate GINA.
46

GINA & Financial Inducements
29 C.F.R. § 1635.8
• “The program in the previous example offers an
additional inducement to individuals who achieve
certain health outcomes. Participants may earn points
toward ‘prizes’ totaling $150 in a single year for
lowering their blood pressure, glucose, and
cholesterol levels, or for losing weight.”
• This inducement would not violate GINA.

47

GINA & Family Members

EEOC v. Honeywell Int’l Inc., Civil No. 14–4517
(D. Minn. Oct. 27, 2014) (EEOC Brief)

• “GINA prohibits employers from offering inducements
(or alternatively imposing penalties) to employees to
obtain medical information about an employee’s family
members.”
• “[E]mployers are prohibited from offering incentives to
an employee in order to obtain family medical history
in connection with a wellness program.”

48

Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964
• Prohibits discrimination because of race, color,
religion, sex, pregnancy, and national origin
• Applies to wellness plans
• Biometric markers could have disparate impact on
certain groups

49

Age Discrimination in Employment Act “ADEA”
 ADEA bars discrimination against employees age 40 or older
 Does the WP create any disparate impact on older employees?
• E.g., if HCWP requires employees to meet certain standards for reward –
BMI, cholesterol, are there allowances for health conditions of older
employees impacting their ability to meet standard?
• The ACA Reasonable Alternative Standard discussed above may solve any
potential ADEA problem

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Fair Labor Standards Act “FLSA”
 FLSA Potential Issues
• If WP has cash awards, consider if cash award
should be included in determining an
employee’s “regular rate” for overtime
o This issue does not arise if WP uses premium
reduction instead of cash award

• Is time a non exempt employee uses to
complete an HRA or biometric testing,
compensable time under FLSA?
o Relevant if non-exempt employee works over
40 hours in workweek
o Be especially cautious if WP testing or other
activities must be done outside of normal
business hours, e.g., lab tests or smoking
cessation classes
© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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National Labor Relations Act “NLRA”
 Under NLRA, employers with union represented employees must bargain in good
faith with employees’ union over terms and conditions of employment
• WP will likely be viewed as a term or condition of employment and thus mandatory
subject of bargaining preventing unilateral employer action without good faith
bargaining

 Does an existing collective bargaining agreement require renegotiation or a
reopener to permit implementation of a WP?
 Bargaining obligation could delay uniform effective date for a WP
 Remember, the NLRA also protects employees who engage in “protected
concerted activity” even if no union is in the picture
• Current NLRB very aggressive on protected concerted activity cases at union free
employers
• Upshot – if some group of employees lawfully acted in concert to protest WP penalty or
surcharge, disciplining them could violate NLRA
• Note, however, an employer should be able to replace employees who refuse
to work
© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Internal Revenue Code
(CODE) TAX ISSUES

 What are the tax implications of WP reductions in premiums, co-pays and
deductibles and from cash rewards?
• Premium, copay and deductibles in an ERISA covered WP will generally be tax free to
employees and dependents
• Financial benefits generally associated with non-ERISA WPs will generally be taxable
o E.g., prepaid gift cards, cash, health club fees, etc.

o Consequence -- if financial inducements are offered outside a Group Health Plan or ERISA
covered WP, employer must withhold and report the incentives as income
o Also, if WP is a self-funded Group Health Plan, employer must test plan to make sure plan
doesn’t discriminate in favor of highly compensated employees

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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Employment Retirement Income Security Act
“ERISA”
 Is WP a “Group Health Plan”?
•

i.e., employer sponsored plan that provides medical care to employees or beneficiaries directly or “though
insurance or otherwise” and is part of a group health plan when its rewards are tied to the group health plan

•

Common WP features will produce a group health plan covered by ERISA, e.g., Health Risk Assessments (HRAs)
resulting in counseling, employer paid biometrics screening (e.g., BMI, cholesterol, blood pressure)

 Consequences if WP is group health plan – must comply with ERISA
•

Plan document, SPD, claims procedure, Form 5500 filings
o meet requirements by incorporating WP into current document for employer’s medical plan or separate WP
plan document incorporating key medical plan provisions

•

Is plan available to all employees?

 If group health plan -- ERISA Section 510 employee protections for those with benefit rights apply

© 2015 Epstein Becker & Green, P.C. | All Rights Reserved. |
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State Law Issues
• Note – for ERISA covered WPs, state laws that would otherwise impact such WPs may
generally be preempted if the law “relates to” the terms of the WP
• This could mean state laws protecting off duty smokers, etc., are preempted if they contain
specific portions addressing benefit plans

• For WPs not subject to ERISA, state laws will apply
• State Lifestyle or Lawful Use laws could definitely affect WP smoking cessation or increased
premiums for smokers (approximately 30 states including DC have smoker protection laws)
• Michigan law barring discrimination based on individual’s weight could impact WP design
• State laws that bar discrimination based on medical conditions (e.g., CA) may impact HCWP or
other WPs
• State laws similar to FLSA, Title VII, ADEA, HIPAA Privacy & Security, ADA & GINA could also
impact WPs in similar ways
• Knowledgeable counsel should review potentially applicable state laws for all states where an
employer has employees covered by a WP
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Thank You

Frank C. Morris, Jr.
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Legislative Proposals
•

Seek to respond to two positions taken by
EEOC:
• That a wellness program that offers
incentives or rewards in compliance with the
ACA may still violate the ADA or GINA; and
• Offering incentives for the collection of an
employee’s spouse’s genetic information for
participation in the employee’s wellness
program violates GINA.
57

Preserving Employee
Wellness Programs Act
• A wellness program would not violate the ADA or GINA if it complies
with Section 2705(j) of the Public Health Service Act (“PHSA”) – which
the Affordable Care Act amended to provide that an employer may offer
a lawful financial incentive of “30 percent of the cost of the coverage,” or
up to 50 percent if approved by the Secretaries of Labor, Health and
Human Services, and the Treasury.
• States that the ACA “intended that employers would be permitted to
implement health promotion and prevention programs that provide
incentives, rewards, rebates, surcharges, penalties, or other
inducements related to wellness programs, including rewards of up to 50
percent off of insurance premiums for employees participating in
programs designed to encourage healthier lifestyle choices.”
•
•

58

Preserving Employee
Wellness Programs Act
• States that offering incentives for the “collection of
information about the manifested disease or disorder
of a family member” for use in another family
member’s workplace wellness program does not
violate GINA.
• Would allow employers to implement a deadline of up
to 180 days for an employee to request and complete
an alternative wellness program if it is unreasonably
difficult or medically inadvisable for the employee to
participate in the original wellness program.
59

Legislative Proposals

Congress is likely to wait for EEOC’s
final rule.
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Eric Dreiband
Jones Day
51 Louisiana Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20001-2113
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